
IJM TED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.
18 V.S.C. j 371
18 U.s.C. j 981(a)(1)(C)

IJM TED STATES OF AM ERICA

V.

ROM AN SIW AVSKY,

D efendant.
/

INFORM ATION

The United States charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At a11 times material to tlzis Information:

. . i' , Relevant Statutes andExecutive Orders

' ' '' . 1. . ' ' The Inlernàtibnal Einekgency Economic Powers Act (1GIEEPA''), 50 U.S.C. j 1701,

. et z'àt
.?., conferred ujon the 'tpresident of the United States the authority to deal with unusual and

,. ,extraor.dinafy Threats o the natio'n's pational securiv and fbreignpolicy. und:r IEBpA, --Eizt shall

' 
.
' 

, be unlawftzl for a person to violate, attem'pt to violate, conspire to violate, or cause a violation of

' '
.any licénse, order; regulation, br jrohibitlon issued under this chapter.'' 50 U.S.C. j 1705(a).

ln 2014, pursuant io his authorities under IEEPA, the President issued Executivç

Order (1GE.O.'') 13660 , which declared a national emergency regard. ing the Crimea region of '

Ulqaine. , .E.O. 13660 (Mr.. 6, 20t4), 79 Fed. Reg. 13,493 (Mar. 10, 2014). The natibnal

' em ergency declared. in E.O. 13660 regarding the situation in Ukraine has rem ained in continuous

effect'since 2014 and w>s most recently continued for another year com mencing M arch 4, 2024. .
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', ' 

.On multiple.occasions,tthe President expanded the scope of the national elhergency .

! : :'' dècléred il'l E.O. 13660, including through E.O. 13661, E.O. 13662, and E.O. 13685. ToJ' . ' .

implement: these Executive 'Orders, tth: Depal-tment of the Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets

Control (.G&OEAC'') issued the Ukraine-Related Sanctions Regulations, 79 Fed. Reg. 26,365-26,373

(May 8, 2014) (codified at '31 C.F.R. Part 589), which were later reissued and rennmed the

Ukraine-/lRussia-lkelàted Sqnctiöns Regulations, 7 Fed. Reg. 26,094-26,1 19 (May 2, 2022).

, 4.' ' . . Relevantthefe, on Decentber 19, 2014, pursuant to his authorities under IEEPA, the

Presidént isstled E.O. 13685, whièh authorized the Secretary bf the Treaspry, in consultation w i.th

' the Secretary of State,.to. designate pergons and block their Etproperty and interests in property that'

' are in theunited'states, that hereafter come within the United States, or that are or heieafter come

withi, n the 'joyspsjion or control of any United States person (including any foreign branchl.'' E.'O' . :

.13685. j.2, 79 Fed. Reg. 77,357 (Dec.'24, 2014).Such blocked property timay not be transferred,

paid, exported, withdrawn, or otherwise dealt in.'' Id

E.O. 13685 prohibited, among oth'er things, (1) çGthe malciùg of any coiltribution.oy

., provijion of ftmds, goods, or services by, to, or for the benefit of any person whose property and

'

ihterests' in projerty are blocked..pursuant to this order,'' (2) GGthe receipt ot any contribution or

.provision öf ftmds, goods, or services from any such person,'' (3) ççralny transaction that evades or

avoids, has the purposç of evading or avoiding, causes a violation of, or attempts to violate any.of '

the prohibitions set forth in this prder,'' and (4) çtgajny conspiracy formed to vi:late any of the '

prohibitions set forth in this order.''

The Ukréine-/Russia-Related Sanctions Regulations incorporated by referende the

pröhibifed 'transactiöùs set forth in E'.O. 13685. 31 C.F.R. j 589.201. The regulations aljo

f. : piôvided'that the names of persons designated by E.O. 13685, whose property and interests are
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therefore blocked, are published in the Federal Register and incorporated into OFAC'S Specially

Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List (GKSDN List''), which i.s published on OFAC'S

website. 1d N ote 1.

Relevant Persons

Defendant ROM AN SINYAVSKY was a United States citizen and real estqte

broker. The defendant owned and operated Gçlkeal Estate Company-ll' in Hallandale, Florida, in

the Southez.n District of Florida.

8 .

of Florida.

Attorney-l was a real èstate éttorlïey in Aventura, Floridà, in the Southem District

Valeri Vyacheslavovich Abramov, a/k/a ' Valerii Vyacheslavovich Abramov

(GûAbrnmov''), was a Russian national who was designated by OFAC pursuant to E.O. 13685 on

January 26, 2018. 83 Fed. Reg. 5,160 (Feb. 5, 2018). Abramov was a client of ROMAN

SINYAVSKY from at least as early as 2016.

10. Viktor Pavlovich Perevalov, a/lc/a Victor Pavloviçh Perevalov (GGperevalov''), was

a Russian national who was designated by OFAC pursuant to E.O. 13685 on January 26, 2018. 83

Fed. Reg. 5,160 (Feb. 5, 2018).Perevalov and Abramov were colleagues.Perevalov was also a

client of R OM AN SINYAVSK Y from  at least as early as 2008.

1616 Collins LLC was a Delaware company fonued on or about April 10, 2018.

12. (%nnk-1,'' û% ank-2,'' and l% ank-3'' were U.S. financial instimtions instlred by the

Federal Deposit lnsurance Corporation with branches in the Southern District of Florida.

1616 Collins LLC maintained a business accotmt at Bank-z ending in x7108 (çGthe

1616 Collins Accotmf').
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Background

On or about August 10, 1998, Abrnmov and his wife purchased Unit 606 in 2600

: Island Boulevard W illinms Island, a luxury condominium in Aventura, Florida, in the Southem

District of Florida tl6unit 606'').

On or about Febrtzary 26, 2008, Perevalov and his wife purchased Units 1616 and::

' ' 1617 in 10295 Collins Avenue Hotel Condominium, located at Onè Ba1 Harbor in Bal Harbour, ,

' Flozda in the Southern District oi-Florida (tçunits' 1616 & 1617'7 and tögether with Unit 606, the

GlBlocked Properties'').

16. On January 26, 2018, OFAC imposed sanctions on Abramov and Perevalov (the
r 

'

ivanuat.y .2018 SNctions'). From then on, Abrnmov's and Perevalov's property ànd interests in

: property'in the United States weretb, locked, and U.S. persons were prohibited fromj among other

. things, 'prokiding ftmds, goods, mld services to and for the benefit of Abrnm ôv and Perevalov

.
'
. 
.
. ; . .. .. ' without first having obtained the necessary authorization or license from OFAC.

: 
' '

, ' Conspiracv to Violate IEEPA and to Com m it M onev Launderina
(18 U.S.C. j 371)

. . .. t , . . . . ' ,

17. . From rin'cir arotmd Jarmary 2018 through in or around M arch 2023, in M inm i-Dade
.
.' ' 

. 
. 

. 
' .' ' , .

ê County, in the Southem District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant,

ROM AN SINYAVSKY ,

, 
.did' willfrlly,. that is, with the intent tp further the objects of the conspiracy, and knoringly

. 
' .

'' 'combine; conspire, confederute, and agree with pther persons known and unknown to the United

States:

à. to violate the January 20 18

. ' . violati6n j)f IEEPA, Title 50, Urtited States Code, Sections 1705(a) and (c), E.U. 13685, and the

. 2'

Sanctions imposed on Abram ov and Perevalov, in
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Ukrainec ussianRelated Sanctions Regulations, Title 31, Code of Federal Regulations, Section

589.201,. and

. ' b. . . ' to uknowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a snanoial trahsacticjn affectihg

interstate pnd foreign connmercej' which transaction involved' the proceeds of specified unlawftzl

activity, that 'is, a' violation of IEEPA, Title 50, United States Code, Sections 1705(a) and' (c), '

knowing that the property involved in the fmancial transaction repfeseflted the proceeds ofsome

, 
' form of uplawftzl activity, with the intent to promote the canying on of sudh spedified tmlàwftzl

, activityz, in'violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956@)(1j(A)(i).
, !!

PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY

' 
. 18.: ' lt was ''the '.purpose bf the conspiracy for ROM AN SINYAVSKY and his co-

''cons/iratop to .linjustly ènrich themsèlves by, among other things, (.a) violating the Januat'y 2018

. . Sapctiofls by engaging in prphibited transactions involving the Blocked P/operties; (b) sharing in

' ' theproceeds generated bythese transactions; and (c) latmdering the pr6ceeds of these trahsactions.

M ANNER AND M EANS OF TTTE CON SPIM CY

, The m nnner and m eéns by which ROM AN SINYAVSKY and his co-cpnspirators sought
' 

. . . ' . . . -. ' , . . . .
. . . ' . 1 !

' 

. . ' 1 1 1.

rnto accomplish.the purpose of the conspiracy included, among others, the following: '
. J - ' j . ' ' ' y . 

'

. ' .. 1 ' C ' O ' '

ROM AN SINYAVSKY énd his co-conspirators agreed to violate the January 2018
, 
Q'

Sanctibns by engaging in transactions involving the Blocked Properties without authorization or a
'
t .

' license gom OFAC, and to share in the proceeds generated by these transactions.

RO M AN? SINYAVSKY worked with Attorney-l to execute deeds to obsctu'e

Abram ov's apd Perevalov's beneficial ownership in the Blocked Properties.

ROM AN SINYAVSKY misrepresented to others the tnle owners of the Blocked

Properties.
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ROM AN SINYAVSKY engaged in the maintenance, transfer, sale, arld lease qf

the Blocked Properties.

23. ROM AN SINYAVSKY collected, shared, and laundered the proceeds generated

by the violations of the January 2018 Sanctions.

ROM AN SINYAVSKY used proceeds generated âom his managèment of' Units

. 1616 & 1617 to pay the units' laintenance fees, condominium association feesj and utility bills.

OVERT ACTS

ln furtherance of the cohspiracy, and to accomplish the ptuposes thereof, ROM AN

. SINYAVSKY and his co-conspiiators committed and caused to be compitted, in the Sögtlwrri

District of Florida, and elsewhere, at least Jne of the following ovel't acts, among oth.ers: . t

On or about April 10, 2018, R OM AN SINYAVSKY caused Attorney-l's 1aw fit'm

in.the Sputhez.n District of Florida to form 1616 Collins LLC to be used to hold Perevalov's

. . . interests in Units 1616 & 1617 instead of in his own name.

On or àbout M ay 27, 2018, in the Southern D.istrict of Florida;, .R OM. AN

SINYAVSK Y m isrepresented to a real estate agent for a potential 'buyer of Unit' 606 . that.

Abramov's wife was the lmit's sole owner.

' Onaor about June 6, 2018, ROM AN SINYAVSKY caused.the prohibited trankfèr

of Abrnmov's ownership interest in Unit 606 to Abramov's wife.

. On or about June 14, 2018, ROM AN SINYAVSKY cauàed the prohibited transfer

of Perekalov's owneiship interest in Units 1616 & 1617 to 1616 Collins LLC.

On or about October 22, 2018, ROM AN SINYAVSK Y caused Attorney-l's law

,filnn to pay a döcumentary stamp tax of $8,400 to record the deed transferrinj Ullits 1616 & 1617

to 1616 Cqllins LLC.

6
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On .or about March 4,' 2019, in colmection with a pending sale öf Unit 606,.

. ROM AN SINYAVSKY falsely informed a closing agent for the sale that he had only recently

leaGed that Abramov was subject to the January 2018 Sanctions.

.7.' , On or about M arch 19, 2019, , in the Southez'n District of Florida, ROM AN

SINYAVSKY' caused the sale of Unit 606 to two U.S. persons for approximately $1.23 millioh. . '

8. ' , On or about April ' 1, 2019, in the Southern District of Florida, ROM AN '

. SINYAVSKY teceived $56,649.65 in proceeds from the sale of Ulzit 606.

, 9. On (jr àbout April . 1, 2019, in the Southern District of Florida, ROM AN

..
' SINYAVSKY received an additional $64,720.80 in procéeds from the sale of Ullit 606.

1.0i g On or about October 28, 2019, ROMAN SINYAVSKY deposited a $15,000 cheèk

.
.. 

. 
' 

2 consisting of réntal proceeds from Units 1616 & 1617 into the

Southem  District of Florida.

1616 Collins Account iù the

On or about December 23, 2019, ROM AN SINYAVSKY deposited a $16,000

check conéisting öf iental proceeds from  Units 1616 & 1617 into the 1616 Collins Account in the

Southern District of Florida.

' On or about Jtme 14, 2021, ROM AN SINYAVSKY deposited a check for $9,000

l consisting.of rental proceeds of Units 1616 & 1617 into the 1616 Collins Account.

On or about June 14, 2021, ROM AN SINYAVSKY deposited a check for $8,500.

. . ' cbnsisting of rental proceeds of Units 1616 & 1617 into the 1616 Collins Accotmt.

On or about June 24, 2021, ROM AN SINYAVSKY deposited a check for $6,000

consisting bf rèntal proceeds of Units 1616 & 1617 into the 1616 CollinstAccotmt.
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On or about January 3, 2022, ROM AN SINYAVSKY used rental proceeds of

Units 1616 & 1617 to pay electronically $2,698.99 from the 1616 Collins Accolmt to Baztk-3
ç

accotmt ending in x0285 for tie maintenance of Units 1616 & 1617.

16. On or about January 3, 2022, ROM AN SINYAVSKY used rental proceeds of

Urtits 1616 & 1617 to pay a $511.30 condominium association fee for Units 1616 & 1617.

A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

The allegations of this lnformation are hereby re-alleged and by this reference fully

incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of America of certain

property in which the defendant, ROM A.N SINYAVSK Y, has an interest.

Upon conviction of a conspiracy to violate Title 50, United States Code, Section

1705 and Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(A)(i), as alleged in this Information,

the defendapt shall forfeit to the United States any property, real or personal, which constimtes or

is derived from proceeds traceable to such offense, ptlrsuant to Title

Section 981(a)(1)(C).

18, United States Code,

The property subject to forfeiture as a result of the alleged offenses includes, but is

not limited to, the following: p. forfeiture money judgment ip the nmotmt of at least $182,442.45

which represents traceable proceeds obtained by defendant.

4. lf any of the propers subject to forfeiture, as a result of any aèt or omission of the

defendant:

a. cnnnot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

b. has b4en transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

c. has been placed beyond the jtlrisdiction of the court;

8
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has been substantially diminished in value; or

has been com mingled with other property which calm ot be divided without

difficulty

the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitm e property under the provisions of Title

21, United States Code, Section 8534.19.

A11 ptlrsuatlt to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and the procedures set

Lspace intentionally /:.# blank?

9
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' fbl-th in Title 2 l , Unzted States Code, Section 853,-:s incol-porated by Title 28, United States Code,

Section 2461 (c).

' 

J- zé' :
MAR NZY INTE
UNITED STATES AU ORKEY

o
. <

J

ELI S. RUBIN
ASSISTANT LINITED STA BS ATTORNEY

' o

M RGAR A, MOESER.
CHIE ,( M NEY LAUNDERING
AND ASSET RECOVERY SECTION
CRIM INAL DIVISION .
U.s. DEPARTMBNTOF JUSTICE

-
.13221 . (

.
) . - - , - .

.-s/*--*- ' lbîbfh
-
kb,; f t pq, 

- 

. tA?lJh.Q/t'
p' A

'

. - - .

SIIGVIGLAYOGLU ,
LINDSAY GORMAN
OLEKSANDRA JOHNSON

TRIAL ATTORNEYS1% y zw
JE IFER KBNNEDY GELLIE .
TING CHIE ,F COUNTERINTELLIGENCE
D EXPORTCONTROL SECTION

NATIONAL SECMRITY DIYISION
U.S. DEPARTMENTOFJUSTICE

/ 'f.
SHUA E. KURLAND

TRIAL ATTORNEY
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UNITED STATES PISTRICT COURT
SOU*HERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA CASE NO.:

CERTIFICATE (IF TRIAL ATTORNEY

Superseding Case Inform ation:
New Defendantts) (Yes or No)
Number of New Defendants
Total number of new counts

ROM AN SINYAVSKY

/

Court Division (select one)
M Miami L ltey W est ID FTP
El FTL L. W PB

1 do hereby certify that:
1. 1 have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of probable

witnesses and the lejal complexities of the lndictment/lnfonnation atlached hereto.
I am aware that the lnformation supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Court in setting
their calendars and scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act, 28 U.S.C. 5316 1.

Interpreter: (Yes or No) YeS
List language and/or dialect: Russian

This case will take days for the padies to try.
Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:
(Check only one) (Check only one)
I lZI' 0 to 5 d ay s E1 P etty
11 EI 6 to 10 days i'Z' M inor
ll1 IZ 1 1 to 20 days Q' M isdemeanor
IV IZI 21 to 60 days El Felony
V r.z 6 1 days and over

8.

9.
10.
1 1 .

lf yes, Judge Case No.
Defendantts) in federal custody as of
Defendantts) in state custody as of
Rule 20 from the District of

12.
13.

14.

ls thisa potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) No
Does this case originate from a mater pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office
prior to August 8, 2014 (Mag. Judge Shaniek M ills M aynard)? (Yes or No) N0
Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office
i O tober 3 2019' (Mag. Judge Jared M. Strauss)? (Yes or No) N0pr or to c , .

Did this mgtter involve the padicipation of or consultation with M agistrate Judge Eduardo 1. Sanchez
during his tenure at the U.S. Attorney's Office, whiçh concluded on January 22, 20232 No
Did this matter involve the participation of or consultatiop with M agistrate Judge M al't# Fulgueira
Elfenbein during her tenure at the U.S. Attorney's Office which concluded on é h 5, 2024? Yes

Y

By: '
Eli S. Rubin
Assistant United States Attorney
SDFL Court ID No. A5502535

Has this case been previously filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) No
If yes, Judge Case No.
Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) No
lf yes, M agistrate Case No.
Does this case relate to a previously filed matter in this District Court? (Yes or No) No
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: ROM AN SINYAV SKY

Case No:

Collnt #: 1

Conspiracv to Violate IEEPA and Comm it M onev Latmderinc

Title 18s Urlited States Codee Section 371

* M ax. Term of Imprisonment: Five (5) Years
* M andatory M in. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A
* M ax. Supervised Release: Three (3) Years

. *. M ax. Fine: $250,000 or twice the am ount of the financial gain or Ioss.

RRefers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole tèrms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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AO 455 (Rev. 01/09) Waiver of an Jndictment

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COLTRT
for the

United States of America
Case No.

ROMAN SINYAVSKY

wM vEuoF A# M ICTMENT

1 understand that I have been accused of one or more offenses punishable by imprisonment for more than one
year. 1 was advised in open cotu't of my rights and the nature of the proposed charges againàt me.

After receiving this advice, 1 waive my right to prosecution by indictment and consent to prosecution by
information.

Defendant 's s'fgnaftfrc

Signature ofdefendant 's atto'mey

Barbara Llanes
Printed nl??;c ofdefendant's attorney

Judge 'sprinted name and ff//e

Case 1:24-cr-20529-BB   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/04/2024   Page 13 of 13




